1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

JOSEPH L. SHOUSE requests the relief designated in Part 2 of 

this Petition. 

2. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT 

Mr. Shouse seeks review of an unpublished Opinion of Division III 

of the Court of Appeals dated September 30, 2014. (Appendix "A" 1-57) 

Mr. Shouse is also appealing an Order Denying Motion for Reconsidera

tion dated December 11, 2014. (Appendix "B") 

3. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Where an individual is neither in actual possession nor con

structive possession of a firearm can that individual be convict

ed as an accomplice to unlawful possession of a firearm second 

degree? 

B. Did the prosecuting attorney's attempt at impeaching a State's 

witness and then relying upon that testimony in closing argu

ment improperly use it as substantive evidence of guilt? 

C. Is the State required to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, in 

order to impose a firearm enhancement, that the firearm was a 

real firearm and operational? 

D. Do enhancements merge when the underlying offenses merge? 

E. Did the State establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, accomplice 

liability as to any of the offenses as they pertained to Mr. 

Shouse? 
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4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Mr. Shouse, Gary D. Engelstad, Jr., Octaviano Ramirez and Ismael 

Hinojos were charged "as principal or accomplice" by an Information filed 

on October 10, 2011. The Information alleged two (2) counts of first de

gree robbery and two (2) counts of first degree assault. (CP 1) 

A motion to sever Mr. Shouse's trial was filed on November 7, 

2011. The severance motion was granted with regard to Mr. Ramirez and 

Mr. Hinojos, but not Mr. Engelstad. (CP 7; RP 13, 1. 23 to RP 14, 1. 2) 

An Amended Information was filed on November 14, 2011 adding 

an additional count of first degree robbery, an additional count of first de

gree assault, one (1) count of first degree burglary, one (1) count of unlaw

ful possession of a firearm first degree, one (1) count of first degree theft 

and one (1) count of second degree theft. Firearm enhancements were in

cluded on Counts One through Six. (CP 13) 

A Second Amended Information was filed on November 15, 2011. 

One (1) count of first degree robbery was dropped. The first degree as

sault counts were amended to second degree assault. The count of first 

degree theft was reduced to second degree theft. Mr. Shouse was ar

raigned on the Second Amended Information that date. (RP 20, ll. 12-22) 

The trial involved an incident that occurred on October 20, 2010. 

The alleged victims were Gerald Moccardine, Dawn Flood and Julie Cur

ry. (RP 28, ll. 4-12; RP 28, 1. 24 to RP 29, 1. 1; RP 41, ll. 20-22; RP 104, 

ll. 21-23) 

- 2-



Deputies from the Kittitas County Sheriff's Office arrived at 1515 

Stephens Road. Deputy Hadaller observed Mr. Moccardine with dried 

blood on his forehead and bruising on his cheek. Mr. Moccardine ap

peared to be upset and scared according to Deputy Vraves. (RP 29, 11. 12-

15; RP 43, 1. 24 to RP 44, 1. 1; RP 48, 11. 13-15) 

Ms. Flood, who formerly dated Mr. Moccardine's son, was work

ing for him on October 20, 2010. She knows Mr. Shouse. (RP 175, 11. 14-

26; RP 176, 11. 3-5; RP 219, 11. 16-17) 

Mr. Shouse and Mr. Engelstad came to Mr. Moccardine's 

scrap/junkyard prior to October 20. They were looking for property which 

Mr. Shouse believed Mr. Moccardine had taken. (RP 177, 1. 17 to RP 178, 

1. 12) 

When Mr. Engelstad and Mr. Shouse arrived on October 20 Ms. 

Curry took her dogs to her van. She remained in the van most of the time. 

While she was in her van Mr. Shouse introduced himself and had a con

versation with her. She did not see anybody putting anything into any 

other vehicles. (RP 192, 11. 1-6; RP 407, 11. 10-17; RP 418, 1. 13 to RP 

419, 1. 3; RP 420, 11. 3-19; RP 423, 11. 22-24; RP 425, 11. 12-14) 

Mr. Moccardine did not have any conversation with Mr. Shouse 

that evening. He barely remembers seeing him present outside his trailer 

door. He asked Mr. Moccardine why the police had been called concern

ing his prior visit. (RP 192, 11. 14-18; RP 300, 11. 4-6; RP 357, 1. 3; RP 

392, 11. 22-24; RP 393, 11. 11-18) 
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After Mr. Shouse left Mr. Engelstad told Mr. Moccardine that he 

intended to take some alternators. Mr. Moccardine told Mr. Engelstad that 

he was not going to take the alternators. (RP 193, ll. 4-23) 

Mr. Engelstad threw an object which hit Mr. Moccardine in the 

head. He then grabbed Mr. Moccardine's wallet and removed $15.00 

from it. (RP 194, ll. 9-24; RP 195, ll. 14-15; RP 196, ll. 2-5; RP 300, 1. 24 

to RP 301, 1. 1; RP 307, ll. 8-12; RP 308, ll. 17-19) 

Ms. Flood saw Mr. Engelstad pull out a gun when Mr. Moccardine 

dropped his hand toward his pocket. Another person later came to the 

door of the trailer with what appeared to be a gun. (RP 196, 11. 20-23; RP 

197, 1. 9 to RP 197, 1. 11; RP 199, 1. 12 to RP 200, 1. 8) 

Ms. Flood testified that no gun was ever pointed at her. No one 

ever threatened her. No one ever made physical contact with her. (RP 

222, ll. 8-18; RP 239, ll. 12-19) 

Mr. Moccardine believed that Mr. Engelstad had a gun; but was 

not entirely certain. He observed an item that had an octagonal barrel. He 

believed it was either an old gun or some type of tool. (RP 309, 1. 21 to 

RP 310, 1. 1; RP 311,11. 8-17; RP 359, 1. 23 to RP 360, 1. 1; RP 363, ll. 10-

14; RP 382, ll. 2-10; RP 385, ll. 6-10) 

Ms. Curry claimed that she was in the trailer when Mr. Engelstad 

pulled the gun. The gun was pointed mainly at Mr. Moccardine. She was 

standing near him. She backed away from the situation to avoid endanger-
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ing herself. She left the trailer without any interference. (RP 414, ll. 9-13; 

ll. 21-22; RP 415, 1. 17 to RP 416, 1. 17; RP 417, ll. 9-11) 

Mr. Shouse did not threaten Ms. Curry in any way. He never hit or 

touched her or Ms. Flood. (RP 371, 1. 19 to RP 372, 1. 5; RP 435, ll. 18-

22; RP 445, 1. 18 to RP 446, 1. 1) 

Ms. Flood claimed that her backpack was removed from her car. It 

contained a Playstation, two bags of jewelry and a pair of binoculars. Mr. 

Shouse later apologized stating that if anything of hers was taken he was 

not aware of it. (RP 207, ll. 11-17; RP 209, 1. 21 to RP 210, 1. 9; RP 211, 

ll. 7-10; RP 213, 1. 18 to RP 214, 1. 6) 

Defense counsel argued a motion in limine concerning Stephanie 

VanCommen's statement that Mr. Shouse was in possession of a shotgun. 

The trial court denied the motion. (RP 467, 1. 11 to RP 469, 1. 19) 

Ms. V anCommen admitted that she made a statement concerning 

Mr. Shouse's possession of a shotgun. She testified she originally lied 

about the shotgun when she was interviewed on August 11 and August 16. 

She denied, during trial, that he had a shotgun. She stated that she wanted 

to get Mr. Shouse in trouble because he was cheating on her. (RP 488, 1. 

25 to RP 489, 1. 15; RP 490, ll. 21-25; RP 493, ll. 21-23; RP 494, ll. 8-14; 

RP 496, ll. 6-1 0; RP 496, 1. 25 to RP 497, 1. 2) 

The prosecuting attorney then re-called Detective Clasen to the 

stand. Testimony concerning Ms. VanCommen's December 31, 2010 in

terview was allowed by the trial court over defense counsel's objection. 
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Ms. V anCommen neither signed that statement nor was it made under 

oath. (RP 523, 1. 3 to RP 526, 1. 9; RP 526, 1. 22 to RP 527, 1. 10) 

Deputies Foster and Sinclair were then re-called to the stand by the 

prosecuting attorney. Deputy Foster testified that in his August 11, 2011 

interview with Ms. VanCommen she now claimed that Mr. Shouse did not 

have a shotgun. Deputy Sinclair testified that in his August 16, 2011 in-

terview Ms. V anCommen again stated that Mr. Shouse did not have a gun. 

(RP 528, 1. 1 to RP 531, 1. 15; RP 532, 1. 10 to RP 534, 1. 24) 

Defense counsel's motion to dismiss all charges against Mr. 

Shouse was denied. (RP 547, 1. 18 to RP 549, 1. 2) 

Defense counsel renewed his severance motion and the dismissal 

motion after the defense rested. Both motions were again denied. (RP 

576, 11. 5-24) 

The trial court gave a limiting instruction with regard to Ms. 

VanCommen's testimony. Instruction 8 states: 

(CP 109) 

Certain evidence has been admitted in this 
case for only a limited purpose. This evi
dence consists ofthe out-of-court statements 
made by witness Stephanie V anComen. The 
out-of-court statements made by Ms. 
V anComen may only be considered by you 
when determining Ms. VanComen's credi
bility. You may not consider these out-of
court statements for any other purpose. Any 
discussions of these statements during your 
deliberations must be consistent with this 
limitation. 
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During closing argument the prosecuting attorney used the im

peachment testimony involving Ms. V anCommen as substantive evidence. 

(RP 654, 11. 8-19) 

A jury found Mr. Shouse guilty on all counts. It answered the spe

cial verdict form concerning the firearm enhancements: "Yes." (CP 155; 

CP 157) 

Judgment and Sentence was entered on February 14, 2012. The 

trial court calculated Mr. Shouse's offender score as twenty-one (21). (CP 

179; CP 240) 

Mr. Shouse previously filed his Notice of Appeal on February 13, 

2012. (CP 178) 

The Court of Appeals entered an unpublished opinion on Septem

ber 30, 2014. 

Mr. Shouse filed a Motion for Reconsideration. An Order Denying 

the Motion for Reconsideration was entered on December 11, 2014. 

5. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

The Court of Appeals decision is fraught with factual and legal er

rors depriving Mr. Shouse of a fair and just resolution of his appeal. 

There is nothing in the record to show that Mr. Shouse was either 

inside of or present at Mr. Moccardine's trailer when firearms were dis

played. No one saw Mr. Shouse with a firearm. 

- 7-



part: 

A. COUNT SEVEN 

Count Seven of the Second Amended Information provides, in 

They, the said, GARY D. ENGELSTAD JR. 
and JOSEPH L. SHOUSE, in the State of 
Washington, as principal or accomplice on 
or about October 20, 2010, having previous
ly been convicted in this state or elsewhere 
of a serious offense . . . did knowingly own 
or have in his possession or under his con
trol a firearm, to wit: Black Hand Gun; 
thereby committing the felony crime of 
UNLAWFUL POSSESSION OF A 
FIREARM IN THE FIRST DEGREE .... 

Mr. Moccardine did not see Mr. Shouse with any type of firearm. 

Ms. Flood did not see Mr. Shouse with any type of firearm. 

Ms. Curry did not see Mr. Shouse with any type of firearm. 

The only evidence that Mr. Shouse may have possessed a firearm 

came through the impeachment testimony of Ms. V anCommen. The State 

used it as substantive evidence of guilt. 

Testimony reflected that Mr. Engelstad may have had a gun. One 

of the other individuals present may also have had a gun. 

Mr. Shouse concedes that he was previously convicted of a serious 

offense. A stipulation was entered to that effect. (CP 93) 

A felon may not lawfully possess a firearm. 
See RCW 9.41.040. Possession may be ac
tual or constructive. [Citation omitted.] The 
State may establish constructive possession 
by showing the defendant had dominion and 
control over the firearm. State v. Murphy, 
98 Wn. App. 42, 46, 988 P.2d 1018 (1999), 
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review denied, 140 Wn.2d 1018 (2000). 
Mere proximity to the firearm is insufficient 
to show dominion and control. [Citation 
omitted.] "[T]he ability to reduce an object 
to actual possession" is an aspect of domin
ion and control, but "other aspects such as 
physical proximity" should be considered as 
well. State v. Hagen, 55 Wn. App. 484,499, 
781 P.2d 892 (1989). And knowledge of the 
presence of contraband, without more, is in
sufficient to show dominion and control to 
establish constructive possession. State v. 
Hystad, 36 Wn. App. 42, 49, 671 P.2d 793 
(1983). 

State v. Chouinard, 169 Wn. App. 895, 899, 282 P.3d 117 (2012) .. 

Mr. Shouse contends that he could not constructively possess what 

someone else actually possesses. Actual possession negates dominion and 

control. 

The trial testimony clearly established that Mr. Shouse was in mere 

proximity to other individuals who possessed firearms. There was no tes-

timony that he was aware of the presence of any firearms. 

Actual possession occurs when a defendant 
has physical custody of the item, and con
structive possession occurs if the defendant 
has dominion and control over the item. 
State v. Jones, 146 Wn.2d 328, 333, 45 P.3d 
1062 (2002). Dominion and control 
means that the defendant can immediate
ly convert the item to their actual posses
sion. Jones, 146 Wn.2d at 333. 

State v. Reichert, 158 Wn. App. 374, 390, 242 P.3d 44 (2010). (Emphasis 

supplied.); See also: State v. Embry, 171 Wn. App. 714, 747-48, 282 P.3d 
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648 (2012) (insufficient evidence re: constructive possessiOn by co-

defendants who did not actually possess the firearm). 

No evidence was presented as to Mr. Shouse's ability to exercise 

dominion and control over the items in the possession of Mr. Engelstad or 

any other individual. 

Furthermore, neither Mr. Moccardine, Ms. Flood nor Ms. Curry 

ever saw Mr. Shouse with a shotgun. The testimony of Ms. VanCommen, 

along with the impeachment testimony from the officers, is the only evi-

dence pertaining to possession by Mr. Shouse. 

Additionally, Mr. Shouse contends that accomplice liability is in-

applicable to the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm first degree. 

Mr. Shouse understands the nature of accomplice liability. It is his 

position that the State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, any as-

pect of accomplice liability as defined in RCW 9A.08.020(3). The statute 

states: 

A person is an accomplice of another person 
in the commission of a crime if: 

(a) with knowledge that it would promote or 
facilitate the commission of the crime, 
he 

(i) solicits, commands, encourages, or re
quests such other person to commit it; or 

(ii) aids or agrees to aid such other person in 
planning or committing it; or 

(b) his conduct is expressly declared by law 
to establish his complicity. 
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The law is clear that "the culpability of an accomplice cannot ex-

tent beyond the crimes of which the accomplice actually has knowledge." 

State v. Trout, 125 Wn. App. 403, 410, 105 P.3d 69 (2005). 

At pp. 21-22 the Court of Appeals concludes its discussion as fol-

lows: 

We agree with Joseph Shouse that the jury 

lacked sufficient evidence to convict him of 

constructive possession of a firearm. 

In the case on appeal, law enforcement nev-

er recovered a gun. No witness testified to 

seeing Joseph Shouse with a gun in his 

hands or that he exercised control or domin-

ion over the guns Englestad and another ac-

tually possessed. . ... 

Even though the Court concluded that a person may be an accom-

plice to unlawful possession of a firearm, the fact that the Court found the 

evidence insufficient to establish Mr. Shouse's conviction precludes retri-

al. 

Accomplice liability ... is not an element 
of the crime charged. Nor is it an alternative 
means of committing a crime. State v. 
Haack, 88 Wn. App. [423, 958 P.2d 1001 
(1997)] at 428. The elements of the crime 
are the same for both a principal and an ac
complice. 
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State v. Teal, 117 Wn. App. 831, 838, 73 P.3d 402 (2003), affirmed 152 

Wn.2d 333, 96 P.3d 974 (2005). 

There is no evidence of a statute expressly declaring that Mr. 

Shouse's conduct on October 20, 2010 establishes complicity in the ac

tions of Mr. Engelstad or any other individual present that evening. 

Due to the fact that the Court concluded that the evidence was in

sufficient, dismissal is required. See: State v. Rodgers, 146 Wn.2d 55, 

62-63, 43 P.3d 1 (2002). 

B. IMPROPER IMPEACHMENT 

The State improperly impeached Ms. V anCommen after calling 

her as a witness. The impeachment consisted of testimony from the offic

ers who had previously interviewed her on various occasions. 

The impeachment was aimed at her statement to Detective Clasen 

on December 31, 2010 that Mr. Shouse had a shotgun. Ms. VanCommen 

consistently denied the truthfulness of that statement after that date. 

The sole purpose of introducing the statement was to place a gun in 

Mr. Shouse's hands. No other person had done that. The effect was to 

introduce substantive evidence of guilt on the unlawful possession of a 

frrearm charge which the prosecuting attorney used in closing argument. 

See: State v. Clinkenbeard, 130 Wn. App. 552, 570-71, 123 P.3d 872 

(2005). 
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The statement in question was impeached by Ms. VanCommen's 

own testimony. The piling on of police officer testimony was for the sole 

purpose of establishing that Ms. VanCommen's December 31 statement 

was true. This statement received additional vouching by the State when 

it elicited testimony from Ms. V anCommen concerning her agreement to 

testify truthfully. See: State v. Ish, 170 Wn.2d 189, 196-99, 241 P.3d 389 

(2010). 

C. FIREARM ENHANCEMENT(S) 

Our cases involving . . . enhanced punish
ment statutes uniformly require proof be
yond a reasonable doubt to establish facts 
which, if proved, will increase a defendant's 
penalty. 

State v. Tongate, 93 Wn.2d 751, 754, 613 P.2d 121 (1980). 

Mr. Shouse contends that the State failed to prove, beyond a rea-

sonable doubt, that anyone was armed with a real gun. 

Mr. Moccardine was unsure whether the object in Mr. Engelstad's 

hand was a gun. He described an octagonal barrel. He believed it may 

have been an old gun or a tool. 

The other individual who supposedly had a gun stayed in the 

doorway. No one gave a description of the gun other than it was a hand-

gun. 

No guns were ever recovered. The State's evidence does notes-

tablish whether any gun which was seen was a real gun. 
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The Court of Appeals decision relies on the jury instructions to 

support its conclusion that the State proved the firearm enhancement be-

yond a reasonable doubt (pp. 25-27). Jury instructions state the law; they 

are not facts. See: State v. O'Donnell, 142 Wn. App. 314, 324, 174 P.3d 

1205 (2007). 

Moreover, the Court of Appeals conflates the phrases "deadly 

weapon" and "firearm." They have definite and succinct meanings and 

cannot be used interchangeably. See: COMMENT - Operability of 

Firearms- WPIC 2.10.01. 

As the Tongate Court noted at 755, (discussing a prior enhance-

ment statute): 

RCW 9.95.040 .. . appears to require the 
presence of a deadly weapon in fact in order 
for the sentence enhancement provision to 
operate. Without proper instruction on the 
standard of proof, a jury might very well en
ter an enhanced punishment special verdict 
. . . if it finds beyond a reasonable doubt that 
an accused was armed with a gun-like but 
nondeadly object. This is sufficient for first
degree robbery ... , but does not meet the re
quirements . . . for the imposition of en
hanced punishment. 

In the absence of physical evidence, and in the absence of a defini-

tive acknowledgement that what was observed was a real gun, the State's 

proof on the firearm enhancement fails. 

D. MERGER 
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The Court of Appeals agreed with Mr. Shouse that the assault and 

robbery convictions merged. The Court of Appeals did not address the 

issue of whether or not the firearm enhancements merged. 

Second degree assault merges with first degree robbery. It elevates 

that offense from second degree robbery . 

. . . [C]ourts have generally held that convic
tions for assault and robbery stemming from 
a single violent act are the same for double
jeopardy purposes and that the conviction 
for assault must be vacated at sentencing. 
[Citations omitted.] 

When an assault elevates the degree of 
robbery, courts have regularly concluded 
that the two offenses are the same for dou
ble-jeopardy purposes. 

State v. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d 765, 774, 108 P.3d 753 (2005). (Emphasis 

supplied.) 

If Mr. Shouse's assault convictions merge with the robbery convic-

tions as argued, then the assault convictions are vacated. It logically fol-

lows that any firearm enhancement on the assault convictions must also be 

vacated. 

E. COUNT THREE 

Count Three of the Second Amended Information states, in part: 

They, the said, GARY D. ENGELSTAD JR. 
and JOSEPH L. SHOUSE, in the State of 
Washington, as principal or accomplice on 
or about October 20, 2010, with intent to 
commit theft did unlawfully take personal 
property that the Defendant did not own 
from the person or in the presence of 
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Dawn Flood, against such person's will, by 
use or threatened use of immediate force, 
violence, or fear of injury to said person or 
the property of said person or the person or 
property of another, and in the commission 
of said crime and in immediate flight there
from, the Defendant was armed with a dead
ly weapon and/or displayed what appeared 
to be a firearm or other deadly weapon 
and/or inflicted bodily injury upon Dawn 
Flood; thereby committing the felony crime 
of ROBBERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE 

Dawn Flood was not injured. 

No personal property was taken from the person of Dawn Flood. 

No personal property of Dawn Flood's was taken in her presence. 

Personal property is within a victim's pres
ence when it is '"within [the victim's] reach, 
inspection, observation or control, that [she] 
could, if not overcome with violence or pre
vented by fear, retain [her] possession of 
it."' State v. Manchester, 57 Wn. App. 765, 
769-69, 790 P.2d 217 (1990) (first alteration 
in original) (quoting 4 CHARLES E. TORCIA, 
WHARTON'S CRIMINAL LAW§ 473 (14th ed. 
1981)), review denied, 115 Wn.2d 1019 
(1990). 

. . . The literal interpretation of taking 
something from another's person would be 
to take something on the person's body or 
directly attached to someone's physical 
body or clothing. That is consistent with 
one legal scholar's definition. 3 WAYNE R. 
LAFAVE, SUBSTANTIVE CRIMINAL LAW § 
20.3( c) at 179 (2nd ed. 2003) ("Property is on 
the victim's person if it is in [her] hand, a 
pocket of the clothing [she] wears, or is oth
erwise attached to [her] body or [her] cloth
ing."). 
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State v. Chamroeum Nam, 136 Wn. App. 698, 705, 150 P.3d 617 (2007). 

Ms. Flood's personal property was in her car. Ms. Flood was in 

Mr. Moccardine's trailer. She was not anywhere near her car when any-

thing was removed from it. The items in her car were not, at the time, 

within her reach, subject to her inspection or under her observation or con-

trol. She could not immediately reduce them to her control. 

Moreover, Ms. Flood was not threatened. She did not feel threat-

ened. In fact, she intervened in the confrontation between Mr. Engelstad 

and Mr. Moccardine. (RP 197, ll. 21-23; RP 199, ll. 4-6; RP 222, ll. 8-18) 

As recently noted in State v. Shcherenkov, 146 Wn. App. 619, 624-

25, 191 P.3d 99 (2008): 

Robbery encompasses any "taking of ... 
property [that is] attended with such circum
stances of terror, or such threatening by 
menace, word or gesture as in common ex
perience is likely to create apprehension of 
danger and induce a man to party with prop
erty for the safety of his person." State v. 
Redmond, 122 Wash. 392, 393, 10 P. 772 
(1922) (emphasis added; see also 67 AM. 
JUR. 2D Robbery § 89 at 114, (2003) "The 
determination of whether intimidation was 
used is based on an objective test whether an 
ordinary person in ... [that person's] posi
tion could reasonably infer a threat of bodily 
harm from the defendant's acts."). 

The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, each and 

every element of the offense of first degree robbery as set forth in Instruc-

tion 25. (CP 126) 
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No property was taken from the person of Dawn Flood. Any tak-

ing which occurred was outside her presence. She was unaware of any 

taking until after events had unfolded. 

Neither force nor fear was used in the taking of any of her proper-

ty. 

The State's case as to Count Three does not satisfy the test an-

nounced in State v. Shcherenkov, supra. 

F. ACCOMPLICE LIABILITY 

The State did not present any evidence that Mr. Shouse solicited 

anyone to commit a crime. 

The State did not present any evidence that Mr. Shouse command-

ed anyone to commit a crime. 

The State did not present any evidence that Mr. Shouse encouraged 

anyone to commit a crime. 

The State did not present any evidence that Mr. Shouse requested 

another person to commit a crime. 

At most, the State established that Mr. Shouse was present when a 

crime and/or crimes occurred. 

There was no evidence of any plan or agreement. 

. . . [T]he plain language of the complicity 
statute does not support the State's argument 
that accomplice liability attaches so long as 
the defendant knows that he or she is aiding 
in the commission of any crime. On the 
contrary, the statutory language requires that 
the putative accomplice must have acted 
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with knowledge that his or her conduct 
would promote or facilitate the crime for 
which he or she is eventually charged. . .. 
[T]he legislative history of RCW 9A.08.020 
supports a conclusion that the legislature 
"intended the culpability of an accomplice 
not extend beyond the crimes of which the 
accomplice actually has 'knowledge[.]"' 
Roberts [State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471, 
14 P.3d 713 (2000)] at 511. ... 

We adhere to our decision in Roberts and 
conclude ... that the fact that a purported ac
complice knows that the principal intends to 
commit "'a crime"' does not necessarily 
mean that accomplice liability attaches for 
any and all offenses ultimately committed 
by the principal. See Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 
513. 

State v. Cronin, 142 Wn.2d 568,578-79, 14 P.3d 752 (2000). 

The State, if it established anything, was an intent to commit theft 

by Mr. Englestad. 

Unlawful possession of a firearm, robbery, and assault do not fall 

within the evidentiary parameters presented to the jury insofar as accom-

plice liability is concerned. 

. . . [T]he prosecution bears the burden to 
prove a defendant's knowledge of the weap
on's presence before he can be subjected to 
accomplice liability for armed [aggravated] 
robbery. United States v. Short, 493 F.2d 
1170 (9th Cir. 1974); United States v. 
Sanborn, 563 F.2d 488 (1st Cir. 1977). Ac
cord, Commonwealth v. Ferguson, 361 
Mass. 1, 309 N.E.2d 182 (1974). . .. Gen
erally, an accomplice should be held liable 
only for the degree or grade of crime 
which is consistent with his own mental 
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culpability. See: 1 C. Torcia, Whorton on 
Criminal Law§ 35, at 180 (1978).

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