RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Mar 11, 2015, 2:58 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT NO. 91203-3

NO. 30641-1-III Consolidated with 30640-2-III

COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

vs.

GARY D. ENGELSTAD JR., JOSEPH L. SHOUSE,

Appellants.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregory L. Zempel, WSBA # 19125
Attorney for Respondent
Kittitas County Prosecuting
 Attorney's Office
Rm. 213, Kittitas County Courthouse
205 West 5th
Ellensburg, WA 98926 (509) 962-7520

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

5. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED:

While the State disagreed with several of the holdings of the Court of Appeals decision in these consolidated cases, the State recognizes that the decision was based upon reasoned debate related to the application of certain facts to the law that applies to the case. For this reason, we have not sought to challenge the decision as rendered. The State also takes exception with petitioner's characterization that the Court of Appeals decision was "fraught with factual and legal errors depriving Mr. Shouse of a fair and just resolution of his appeal." Such characterization is unnecessary, shows a lack of respect for that Court, and is simply unsupported and wrong.

This Court should not accept review as the petition does not meet the criteria for acceptance of review.

A. A defendant may be found guilty of unlawful possession of a firearm based upon facts demonstrating that he/she was an accomplice to that crime.

This issue does not meet the criteria for acceptance of review. The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b) (1). The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b) (2). In fact, as noted by the Court of Appeals, there was no specific Washington State case found related to accomplice liability for unlawful possession of a firearm.

The fact that there is no other precedence on this issue, however, does not mean that this case issue raises a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States, nor does the issue rise to the level of being of substantial public interest needing a determination by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3) - (4). The lack of case law on the issue suggests that factually this issue is not presented on any type of a regular basis. The Court of Appeals did not apply new principles of accomplice liability in this case rather the decision simply applied time worn accomplice liability principles to the facts of this case.

Mr. Shouse argues that the Court was wrong to find accomplice

liability principles to apply, and wrong to remand to the trial court for retrial. However, the Court of Appeals' decision was in accord with existing law. Mr. Shouse's argument can also be put to rest, as the State has no desire to retry Mr. Shouse on this particular charge. The State has accepted the opinion of the Court of Appeals and is willing to sentence Mr. Shouse again on the convictions and enhancements that remain – his concerns are moot. Should this Court need further argument on this topic, it is contained in Exhibit A and the decision of the Court of Appeals.

B. The prosecuting attorney elicited substantive testimonial evidence from Ms. Van Comen, and did in fact impeach her trial testimony in some respects. However, as the Court of Appeals concluded, based upon the record, the prosecuting attorney did not attempt to use the impeachment evidence as substantive evidence that Mr. Shouse actually possessed a firearm.

Again, as to this issue, the Court of Appeals plowed no new ground. There is no conflict with the below decision and any decision rendered by this Court or of the Court of Appeals. The decision was based upon well-established law. RAP 13.4(b) (1) – (2) Petitioner simply disagrees with the application of that law to these facts. And, as pointed out by the Court of Appeals, the petitioner's argument is not supported by the record. Nor does this issue raise a significant question under the respective constitutions. RAP 13.4(b) (3) It is a factual issue, determined

by judges applying well settled law. There is nothing about the application of existing law to these facts that raises the issue to one of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b) (4) While each case is decided upon the facts presented, the criteria is focused upon the legal issue raised. While it is true that a misapplication of the law can be found to be prejudicial, and could rise to the level of a substantial public interest, that is not the case you are presented here. Should this Court need further argument on this topic, it is contained in Exhibit A and the decision of the Court of Appeals.

C. The jury was properly instructed on what evidence they had to find in order to impose a firearm enhancement. Petitioner Shouse misstates the standard required for imposition of such an enhancement or seeks an unjustified extension to the law regarding the burden placed upon the State.

Petitioner's next issue, similarly is not the type of issue that merits review. His legal arguments have been rejected in other cases and he cannot point to a case in which the holding of the Court of Appeals can be seen as being in conflict with decisions of this Court or other decisions of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1) - (2) There is nothing novel about the application of the law to the facts of this case that would meet the threshold for being considered a significant question of constitutional magnitude or of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3) - (4). Again, this is simply a case of petitioner disagreeing with existing law, how that

existing law was applied to these facts, and an attempt to extend existing law in a fashion that would require absurd results. If Petitioner's argument were to be adopted, then logically, the State could never convict someone of possessing/using a firearm unless said weapon was recovered, sent to the lab, tested, and shown to be in proper working order. This is not, and should not be the standard of proof required of the state. Should this Court need further argument on this topic, it is contained in Exhibit A and the decision of the Court of Appeals.

D. The State disagrees with the Court of Appeals decision to merge additional convictions. However, given that court's ruling, the State does not believe this Court must accept review to make a pronouncement clarifying the law. The state believes that the law is clear in dictating that the enhancement attached to a conviction that is vacated is also vacated.

It would appear that petitioner, by claiming there has been no definitive statement on the issue of what the practical outcome of an enhancement when convictions are merged, has conceded that the threshold for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) - (2) has not been met. The concession is presumed because he points to no case addressing the issue, and therefore, if no such case exists, there can be no conflict.

The petitioner desires a definitive statement, because the Court of Appeals "provided no direction", and thus, it appears that he is claiming

that this issue qualifies for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) - (4) as either a significant question of law or of substantial public interest. While this writer has been wrong before, the State is willing to argue that the Court of Appeals most likely did not provide guidance because they felt such guidance was not necessary.

It is the State's understanding, that all such enhancements are required to be pled and proven, in accordance with established law. It is also understood to be well settled law that such enhancements attach to specific charges and apply only upon specific convictions. While disagreeing with the analysis of the Court of Appeals, the State does not believe that new law was articulated in finding merger. And it is the position of the State that the law is well settled, that when merger is found to occur by operation of law, after a verdict, that one of the charges must be vacated regardless of the jury's verdict. If such charge is vacated by operation of law, there is nothing for the enhancement to attach to, and thus, by operation of law, it either merges with the other charge's enhancement and must be vacated, or it is simply vacated because there is no remaining charge for it to attach to at that point in time.

If this Court believes that this issue is of the magnitude to require review, then there is additional argument on merger that can be gleaned from Appendix A and the Court of Appeals decision. If review were to be

accepted, the State would not object to being corrected on its position on the issue.

E. There was sufficient evidence presented to the jury to support Mr. Shouse's conviction as a principle or accomplice for all of his convictions.

The State believes that this issue also does not meet the criteria for review found in RAP 13.4(b). There is no new ground covered here, no new articulation of law, no conflicts, and no earth shattering claims.

Again, the petitioner disagrees with the jury's verdict and the result obtained at the Court of Appeals, but there is no conflict in the law or how it was applied. Should this Court need further argument on this topic, it is contained in Exhibit A and the decision of the Court of Appeals.

F. Mr. Engelstad's document titled a Petition for Review should be rejected as to form. Mr. Engelstad's document is more properly titled a Personal Restraint Petition, as he is seeking to address an issue that is not found within the record. What is found in the record does not support the argument put forth by Mr. Engelstad.

Petitioner Engelstad appears to make two claims related to ineffective assistance of counsel. One relates to his counsel's failure to present a case, and the other relates in some fashion to a claim that his counsel prevented him from testifying on his own behalf. The petitioner does not articulate how these issues would meet the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b), but to a certain extent, his argument concedes that it does not

meet the criteria. Petitioner claims that the Court applied an incorrect standard to his ineffective assistance of counsel claim, but cites to a case relied upon by the Court, his appellate counsel and the State below, and further claims that it is well settled law. Nor do the issues appear to meet the threshold as a significant question or of substantial public interest.

Additionally, the second argument appears to be more akin to a Personal Restraint Petition, that would require affidavits, testimony, or both to address, as there is no part of the record that contains the private conversations had between he and his attorney as to the agreed upon trial strategy for the calling of witnesses or of the calling of Mr. Engelstad to the stand.

It can be presumed that there was a discussion about Mr. Engelstad testifying and the consequences of same given his extensive criminal history. And it can be presumed that both petitioner and his counsel at the time of trial were not intending on his testimony as they entered into a stipulation as to prior conviction(s) supporting an element of unlawful possession for the purpose of keeping his criminal history from being discussed. A thorough discussion of the parameters of such stipulation was held on the record, similar to the recitation and conclusions as to Mr. Shouse raised on direct appeal. These issues either do not meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b) or they are better raised and addressed through the PRP

process.

6. CONCLUSION:

While the State may disagree with portions of the decision of the Court of Appeals, the State cannot articulate any errors that would raise this case to the level of needing intervention by this Court. The petitioners have failed to demonstrate how the issues they have presented meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b). The State respectively requests that this Court find that the criteria for acceptance of review have not been met by the issues presented herein. The State respectively requests that this Court deny acceptance of review, that a Mandate Terminating Review be issued, and that this matter be returned to the trial court for re-sentencing in accordance with the Court of Appeals decision.